DO NOT REMOVE FROM FILE

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF APPEALS OF WEST VIRGINIA

DOCKET NO. 18-1134

City of Morgantown

Defendant below, Petitioner,

Appeal from a final order

of the Circuit Court of Monongalia

County (17-C-41)

v.

Calvary Baptist Church

Plaintiff below, Respondent.

PETITIONER'S BRIEF

Ryan P. Simonton (WVSB#11152) 389 Spruce Street Morgantown, WV 26505 Phone: (304) 284-7477 rsimonton@morgantownwv.gov Counsel for Petitioner THE CITY OF MORGANTOWN

Assignments of Error

- 1. The Circuit Court failed to apply the "fairly debatable" standard of review to this challenge of a zoning ordinance. Review of the ordinance under the appropriate standard dictates upholding the ordinance. Ancillary to the misapplication of the standard of review, the Circuit Court erred by invalidating the zoning ordinance as a violation of substantive due process without considering all appropriate factors and without evaluating the evidence supporting the zoning ordinance under those factors. Full consideration of the legitimate governmental interests supporting the zoning classification demonstrates that it is rationally related to appropriate zoning purposes.
- 2. The Circuit Court ordered invalidation of the zoning ordinance as a violation of substantive due process without identifying or addressing any other legal theory upon which the ordinance might be challenged. The reliance upon the zoning amendment process in two historical legislative matters is inapposite to the substantive due process analysis, should have been disregarded by the Circuit Court, and contributed to the erroneous finding that the zoning ordinance should be invalidated for lack of a rational relationship to legitimate governmental purposes.

Statement of the Case

I. Procedural History

- 1. The Plaintiff below, Calvary Baptist Church (the "Church" or "Respondent") filed its "Petition for Writ of Mandamus" on January 24, 2017, seeking to compel the City to amend the zoning classification of its property from the R-1 Single Family Residential District to the B-2 Service Business District (App. 000007-12). The R-1 District is intended to provide attractive single-family neighborhoods, and the B-2 District is intended for large space users such as department stores. (App. 002907).
- 2. The Defendant below, The City of Morgantown, West Virginia (the "City" or "Petitioner") filed its "Answer" on February 21, 2017. (App. 000018-23).
- 3. A Scheduling Conference was held on April 13, 2017, and a "Scheduling Order" was entered April 21, 2017, which directed the parties to submit "a joint record for adjudication of this matter no later than May 26, 2017." (App. 000002, Docket Entry No. 12).
- 4. On May 26, 2017, a "Joint Appendix" was filed in this matter, containing, *inter alia*, the record of the proceedings on the request for a zoning amendment and the documents produced to Petitioner in written discovery. (App. 000031-1362).
- 5. On June 15, 2017, a Status Conference was conducted in this matter. Following the Status Conference, the Court issued a "Scheduling Order" on June 27, 2017 providing discovery and motions deadlines and a trial date in accordance with the Church's request. (App. 0000002, Docket Entry No. 17).
- 6. Trial of this matter was initially scheduled for January 24, 2018. On that date, the Court ordered that the trial be continued and all proceedings in this matter be stayed pending a

¹ Citations to the Appendix Record submitted on this appeal are in the format "(App. 000000X)".

renewed application to the City for subdivision of a portion of the Church's property and amendment of the zoning classification applicable to the property. ("Order Continuing Trial and Granting Stay," entered January 26, 2018). (App. 001570).

- 7. On January 31, 2018, the Respondent submitted its "Application for Zoning Map Amendment" to the City, requesting a change in zoning classification from R-1 to B-2. (App. 002396).
- 8. The City's professional planning staff prepared a report for the City's Planning Commission analyzing the merits of the application under the Comprehensive Plan and applicable law. The Staff Report addressed Respondent's application and additional issues that Respondent had asserted in litigation that the staff should consider. The report recommended denial of the application because, *inter alia*, the property is located in an area designated by the community through the Comprehensive Plan process for limited growth and neighborhood preservation. (App. 002906-2925).
- 9. On March 8, 2018, the Morgantown Planning Commission voted 8-0 to recommend denial of the Petitioner's application for amendment of the zoning classification of the property from R-1 to B-2. (App. 001741).
- 10. On May 1, 2018, City Council unanimously voted to deny the application for amendment of the zoning classification filed by the Petitioner. (App. 001853).
- 11. On May 4, 2018, the Circuit Court entered its "Order Lifting Stay and Notice of Status Conference." (App. 001574).
- 12. On or about May 17, 2018, Petitioner filed its "First Amended Complaint and Petition for Writ of Mandamus." (App. 001576).

- 13. On June 28, 2018, the City filed its Answer to the First Amended Complaint and Petition for Writ of Mandamus. (App. 001593).
- 13. On July 9, 2018, a status conference was conducted, and trial was set for August 16, 2018. (App. 001602).
- 14. On August 16 and August 17, 2018, a bench trial was conducted in the Circuit Court before Hon. Susan B. Tucker. (App. 003213 *et seq.*).
- 15. On November 21, 2018, the court entered its "Order" invalidating the City's zoning ordinance as to the Respondent's property. (App. 000005, Docket Entry No. 98).
- 16. On November 26, 2018, the court entered its "Amended Order" modifying the November 21, 2018 Order. (App. 003200-6).
- 17. The Amended Order found that the R-1 zoning classification violated the Respondent's substantive due process rights and that the City Council must amend the Respondent's zoning classification to B-2. *Id*.
- 18. On December 13, 2018, the Respondent filed a motion seeking an award of attorney fees and costs. (App. 000005). The Circuit Court granted Respondent's motion pending submission of detailed fee submissions and objections thereto. At the time of this filing, a final order awarding fees has not been entered by the Circuit Court.
- 19. The City filed its "Notice of Appeal" with this Court on December 26, 2018, seeking reversal of the Circuit Court's Amended Order and its finding that the City's zoning ordinance does not provide Respondent with substantive due process.
- 20. The City filed its Motion to Stay Execution of Judgment on January 11, 2019, and the Court entered its Order granting the Motion to Stay Execution of Judgment on March 19, 2019. (App. 000005-6).

21. In accordance with this Court's "Scheduling Order" entered January 31, 2019, this appeal follows.

II. Statement of Facts

- 1. This case arises out of a request by Respondent to amend the zoning classification for a portion of its property located at 519 Burroughs Street within the City of Morgantown. (App. 000007-12).
- 2. Respondent owns a parcel comprising approximately 2.5 acres adjoining Burroughs

 Street and Eastern Avenue in the City's Suncrest neighborhood. (App. 002915; 002926-9).
- 3. The Respondent joined its request for a zoning amendment with a request to subdivide its property. Respondent sought a zoning amendment only as to the portion of the property it chose to subdivide. (App. 002915; 002926-9).
- 4. Respondent chose to subdivide a small portion of its property with access only onto Burroughs Street. *Id*; App. 003414-15. Respondent could subdivide a portion of its property with access onto Eastern Avenue but did not do so. *Id*.
- 5. Respondent sought to amend the zoning classification from the existing R-1 Single Family Residential District classification to the B-2 Service Business District Classification. *Id.*
- 6. The subdivision and request for zoning amendment were made as part of an effort to sell the property to Bernard Bossio for commercial development. (App. 003259-60).
- 7. Mr. Bossio has agreed to purchase the property from the Respondent for \$250,000.00, but only if the zoning is changed to permit commercial uses. (App. 002657, 003260).
- 8. Mr. Bossio is paying the legal fees incurred by the Respondent in its attempts to invalidate the City's zoning ordinance. (App. 003263-4).

- 9. Respondent offered an appraisal valuing the same portion of its property at \$128,476.00 under the R-1 zoning classification. (App. 003303).
- 10. The estimated appraised value for Respondent's entire property, according to public records of the Monongalia County Assessor's office, is \$885,300.00. (App. 003425).
- 11. The Respondent conducts church services on its property and is not in the business of commercial development. (App. 003454, 003457-8).
- 12. Respondent will continue to operate a church on its property regardless of whether the zoning classification is changed. *Id*.
- 13. Respondent's property is classified as "R-1 Single Family Residential District" by the City's Zoning Ordinance. (App. 002906; 002914).
- 14. The property and neighborhood have had residential zoning since the City's first zoning ordinance in 1959. (App. 003435). The Church established its use of the property after that zoning ordinance and has never attempted to change the zoning until entering a contract to sell its property for commercial development. (App. 003435).
- 15. Church uses are common and permitted in residential districts. These uses are understood to contribute to the neighborhood uses. (App. 003437).
- 16. The property is surrounded on three sides by property zoned for residential use. (App. 002906; 002914).
- 17. The property is adjoined on its other side by the end of a node of property zoned for commercial use centered on Collins Ferry Road. (App. 002906; 002914).
- 18. The R-1 zoning classification covering the property and the neighborhood serves the following purposes:

- (A) Provide for attractive single family neighborhoods for residents who prefer larger lot sizes, and do not generally desire to live in close proximity to other types of uses, and
- (B) Preserve the desirable character of existing single family neighborhoods, and
- (C) Protect the single family residential areas from change and intrusion that may cause deterioration, and provide for adequate light, ventilation, quiet, and privacy for neighborhood residents.

(App. 002907).

- 19. The B-2 zoning classification sought by Respondent is intended to provide areas that are appropriate for most kinds of businesses and service, particularly large space users such as department stores. (App. 002907).
- 20. Mr. Bossio testified regarding the B-2 district, "If the parcel will allow it to be in a particular area, and the topography would be right, you could build a Walmart." (App. 003263).
- 21. The City's planner testified that the B-2 district is the City's "second-most intense commercial district" and is used for "larger big-box development." (App. 003376).
 - 22. The following uses are permitted in the B-2 District classification:
 - o Amphitheater
 - o Automotive repair
 - o Automotive paint shop
 - o Building materials supplier
 - o Car wash
 - o Conference Center
 - o Department store
 - o Dormitory
 - o Drive-in theater
 - o Fraternity or sorority house
 - o Gas station
 - o Hospital
 - Hotel
 - o Commercial Kennel
 - o Large Movie Theater
 - o Outdoor storage, seasonal
 - o Parking Lot, Principal Use
 - o Parking Structure, Principal Use
 - o Small scale shopping center

(App. 002444); City Code § 1331.05.01 – Table of Permitted Land Uses.

- 23. The City's current zoning ordinance is guided by a Comprehensive Plan adopted in 2013 and codified at *City Code* § 1301.01-1301.09.²
- 24. The Comprehensive Plan involved an eighteen-month project that included four rounds of public workshops and forums. (App. 003430). Through these public workshops and forums, City staff and consultants conducted interviews with allied stakeholder interests and other members of the public to identify ideas to improve the built environment, make the community more attractive, and promote continued economic development and growth. (App. 003430-31).
- 25. In conjunction with three consulting firms, and using data from Mylan Pharmaceuticals, West Virginia University, area hospitals, and other businesses, the City determined that it should plan for a 40,000-person population increase by 2040, essentially doubling the population of the City. (App. 003431).
- 26. Based on those growth projections, the Comprehensive Plan process reviewed existing and available space to identify where the new residents may live and where their services could be provided:

[We] reported back to the community, listen, the consulting team thinks we're going to grow by 40,000 people by 2040. What does that physically mean? Okay. So, that particular exercise we have maps of the urban area. We broke the attendees up in groups. We gave them stickers. The stickers represented I think 40 acres. So, to grow by 40,000 people during that time frame, it's anticipated that 8,800 acres would be consumed to support the new bodies, the new jobs, the new retail, to live, work, play and use, that we all have. The different groups work together, use the stickers, placed the stickers on the map, identifying where they thought that growth could go, should go, would go, if you will. After that exercise was done, they came back. They reported, if you will, what they were concerned with, what opportunities they saw. And from there that really solidified what areas within Morgantown were acceptable for more intense development and what areas were very clear

² Cited provisions of the City Code of The City of Morgantown can be viewed at the following links:

 $^{(1) \ \ \}frac{\text{http://whdrane.conwaygreene.com/NXT/gateway.dll?f=templates\&fn=default.htm\&vid=whdrane:WV}{\text{Morgantown}}$

⁽²⁾ https://bit.ly/2dVTwyZ

that that participatory process was to leave alone. And the leave alone areas for the single-family was the "Neighborhood Conservation" identification on the Land Management Map.

(App. 003430-32).

- 27. The Comprehensive Plan process occurred after the development of commercial uses in 2003 and 2011 relied upon by Respondent as support for invalidating the City's zoning ordinance. (App. 002414, 002439, 003434).
- Respondent's property is within one of only two areas in the City designated for Neighborhood Conservation during the comprehensive planning process that accounted for a doubling of population. (App. 003430-34). Other neighborhoods such as [Wiles] Hill, Jerome Park, and South Park are existing single-family neighborhoods that the Comprehensive Plan identified as appropriate for additional infill development, as long as it was compatible with the existing built environment. (App. 003435).
- 29. The Comprehensive Plan identified areas for future study where existing zoning was inconsistent with current or expected uses. (App. 003427-28). Respondent's property is not within a future study area. *Id.* (App. 002905-2925).
- 30. West Virginia Code Chapter 8A, Article 7, Section 8 prohibits a City Council from making zoning amendments inconsistent with the Comprehensive Plan unless it finds that major changes not anticipated by the Comprehensive Plan have occurred, and that those changes have substantially altered the basic characteristics of the area. (App. 003440-41). No such inconsistency was found as to Respondent's property. (App. 003441).
- 31. The Comprehensive Plan includes a map of all zoning areas and identifies additional concept areas for the City. *Id*.

- 32. The property involved in this case is within the Neighborhood 1 Pattern and Character Area, the Neighborhood Conservation and Corridor Enhancement Concept Areas of the Land Management Map, and the Limited Growth Concept Area of the Conceptual Growth Framework Map. (App. 002906-2925).
- 33. The "Neighborhood 1" Pattern and Character area includes the oldest residential areas in the city surrounding Downtown and WVU's campus. (App. 002921).
- 34. The "Neighborhood Conservation" area is intended for preservation of existing neighborhood character and continued maintenance of buildings and infrastructure. (App. 002922). This area is intended to maintain and protect existing neighborhoods. (App. 002923).
- 35. The "Corridor Enhancement" concept area is intended for improving development along corridors with a mix of uses, increased intensity at major nodes or intersections, and roadway improvements to improve traffic flow and pedestrian and biking experience. (App. 002922). Corridor Enhancement areas are "not just specifically desiring more intense development or redevelopment, it also discusses the improvement of the public [] rights-of-way, whether it's improvement to vehicular traffic, pedestrian traffic, the interaction between pedestrians, bicycles, and vehicular traffic." (App. 003423)(Tr. p. 211 ln 14-21).
- 36. The Corridor Enhancement concept area is a type of overlay upon roadways within other concept areas. (App. 003421-22). It does not supersede the Neighborhood Conservation concept area in the Comprehensive Plan. *Id*.
- 37. Only two areas of Morgantown were designated for Neighborhood Conservation in the 2013 Comprehensive Plan: the Suncrest neighborhood where Respondent's property is located and the Evansdale neighborhood. (App. 003423).

- 38. The "Limited Growth" concept area is intended for areas that are subject to development, but where increased intensity is generally not desired. These areas include both existing open space and existing development and all developable areas. (App. 002920).
- 39. The City's professional planning staff prepared a Staff Report for consideration by the Planning Commission on review of the Respondent's application to amend the zoning classification for its property. (App. 2905). The report addressed both the application content and issues Respondent had indicated through litigation required additional staff review. (App. 003415; 003421-22).
- 40. The Staff Report noted that "[t]he predominant development activity within the immediate area since 1998 has reflected the neighborhood's single-family residential zoning classifications. Specifically, 33 new residential dwelling units have been constructed within the surrounding two- to three-block area during that time." (App. 002908; App. 002665-2904 (Building permits for residential dwellings)).
- 41. Of those thirty-three newly-constructed residential units in a two- to three-block area, six were constructed in the past 5 years and at least one had the exact same alignment and access to Burroughs Street as the part of the Respondent's property at issue in this case. (App. 003389).
- 42. There are twelve other homes in the area directly accessing Burroughs Street. (App. 003390). Those twelve existing homes, and the thirty-three newly-constructed, establish "an existing built environment, an existing land use pattern, and an expectation by those who own the property and reside there that there not be a significant impact with a compatible development or in compatible uses." (App. 003418) (Trial Transcript, hereinafter "Tr." P. 206, ln 8-11).

- 43. The Staff Report similarly noted that "[t]he area along Burroughs Street has seen substantial new residential construction, including development of new subdivisions at French Quarter Drive, Vintner Place, Vintner Square, Suncrest Place, and at least one single dwelling construction accessing Burroughs Street." *Id*.
- 44. The Respondent's application for a zoning amendment did not identify how the change to a B-2 classification would be consistent with the Comprehensive Plan or was merited based on changed circumstances since the 2013 adoption of the Comprehensive Plan. (App. 003441).
- 45. The Respondent's application for zoning amendment did not identify any manner in which the change to a B-2 classification would provide corridor enhancement by reducing traffic volume or improving pedestrian facilities. (App. 003441). No right-of-way improvements have been made in the area to accommodate increased traffic. (App. 003444-45).
- 46. The Respondent's application for zoning amendment did not identify any manner in which the change to a B-2 classification was required to provide economic use of the property due to topography or drainage issues. (App. 003442).
- 47. Respondent's appraiser testified that the site's topography is equally challenging for residential or commercial uses. (App. 003310).
- 48. Respondent's appraiser testified that the neighborhood supports a realistic use of the land for residential development. (App. 003312). The appraiser testified that this area has the strongest demand in the City for residential uses. (App. 003311-12).
- 49. The Staff Report noted that changing the zoning classification for the property to B-2 would be inconsistent with the area's development patterns and the Limited Growth and

Neighborhood Conservation concept areas established by the Comprehensive Plan. (App. 002905-25).

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