Between 2016 and 2018, Calvary Baptist Church twice asked the City of Morgantown to 

rezone an approximately half-acre parcel from a single-family residential R-1 classification to a 

commercial B-2 classification. The City twice refused and the Church sued, alleging substantive 

due process violations and other constitutional claims. After a two day bench trial in August 2018, 

at which the evidence showed the City had considered and granted similar rezoning applications 

for abutting or diagonally adjacent properties, the Circuit Court entered an Amended Order on 

November 26, 2018, concluding the City "looked for reasons" to deny the Church's applications

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT 

After a two day bench trial, the Circuit Court entered an Amended Order finding that the 

City's reasons for rezoning the Partition were disingenuous, if not utterly misleading and manu­

factured. The Circuit Court then declared that the City's single-family R-1 classification is uncon­

stitutional as applied to the Partition and directed the City to change it to a commercial B-2 clas­

sification. The City assigns two errors to this Amended Order: (1) that the Circuit Court misapplied 

the substantive due process standard and incorrectly evaluated the evidence, and (2) that the Circuit 

Court should have disregarded the City's past approvals ofrezoning applications for two adjacent 

properties. The City is mistaken. 

First, the Circuit Court properly weighed the evidence under the correct substantive due 

process standard. The City argues that the Circuit Court did not apply the fairly debatable standard, 

but the Amended Order cites to this Court's substantive due process decisions on zoning in which 

the fairly debatable standard was articulated and applied. The City also argues that the Circuit 

Court failed to apply all nine LaSalle factors, but the Circuit Court applied the six LaSalle factors 

4 After entry of the Amended Order, the Church moved for its fees and costs. The Circuit Court granted the Church's 
motion but has not completed the lodestar analysis. 



this Court adopted in Par Mar, 183 W. Va. at 706 398 S.E.2d at 536, and appropriately disregarded 

the remaining three factors it did not. 

Second, the Circuit Court properly considered the City's rezoning approvals for two adja­

cent properties, as well as the circumstances under which the City granted them. The crux of the 

substantive due process analysis is whether the zoning classification is arbitrary or unreasonable, 

and whether the City reached different conclusions for the Partition than the City reached for the 

Church's immediate neighbors bears on that analysis. 

Where the Circuit Court applied the correct law, its factual findings and judgment must be 

given substantial deference under the clear error and abuse of discretion standards applied by this 

Court. This Court should therefore affirm the Amended Order. 

STATEMENT REGARDING ORAL ARGUMENT AND DECISION 

Oral argument is appropriate under Rule 20 of the West Virginia Rules of Appellate Proce­

dure because this case involves an as-applied substantive due process challenge to enforcement of 

a municipal zoning ordinance. W. Va. R. App. P. 20(a)(3). Because it has not decided such a chal­

lenge since Prete v. City of Morgantown, 193 W. Va. 417,456 S.E.2d 498 (1995) (per curiam), this 

Court should issue a signed opinion in order to provide guidance to the bench and bar. W. Va. R. 

App. P. 20(g). 

STANDARD OF REVIEW 

This appeal is from the Circuit Court's November 26, 2018, Amended Order granting judg­

ment for the Church after a two day bench trial in August 2018. 

In appeals from a bench trial, this Court applies a "two-pronged deferential standard of 

review." Syl. Pt. 1, in part, Pub. Citizen, Inc. v. First Nat. Bank in Fairmont, 198 W. Va. 329, 480 

S.E.2d 538 (1996). "The final order and the ultimate disposition are reviewed under an abuse of 

discretion standard, and the circuit court's underlying factual findings are reviewed under a clearly 

erroneous standard. Questions oflaw are subject to a de novo review." Id. 
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This Court's standard ofreview in an appeal from a bench trial is generally the same stand­

ard applied to appeals from judgment orders entered on petitions for mandamus. In those cases, 

"the judgment . . . based upon a finding of fact upon conflicting testimony will not be reversed 

unless it appears to be clearly wrong." Syl. Pt. 1, State ex rel. Morris v. King, 170 W. Va. 646, 295 

S.E.2d 811 (1982) (citing Syl. Pt. 1, Point Pleasant Register Publ'g Co. v. Cty. Ct. of Mason Cty., 

115 W. Va. 708, 177 S.E. 873 (1934)). This is the same standard applied in Trovato v. Town of Star 

City, where, relying on the same substantive due process standard applicable here, this Court af­

fim1ed a writ of mandamus directing a municipality to rezone property because the classification­

in-place was "clearly arbitrary, capricious, and unreasonable." 166 W. Va. 699, 700, 276 S.E.2d 

834,835 (1981) (per curiam). 

The City is therefore mistaken when it argues that a de nova standard applies to all issues 

in this appeal. See Pet'r' s Br. * 17. The case the City cites for that principle, Am. Tower Corp. v. 

Common Council of City of Beckley, only applied the de nova standard to a pure question of law: 

whether a municipal ordinance vesting final authority over conditional use permits in Beckley's 

Common Council impermissibly conflicted with a State statute reserving that authority to boards 

of zoning appeals. 210 W. Va. 345, 348-49, 557 S.E.2d 752, 755-56 (2001). The American Tower 

court then applied a clearly erroneous standard to the decision itself. Id. at 349, 557 S.E.2d at 756. 

Applying the correct standard of review from Public Citizen, the de nova standard applies 

only to the Circuit Court's interpretation of the substantive due process standard this Court first 

articulated in Carter v. City of Bluefield, 132 W. Va. 881, 54 S.E.2d 74 7 (1949) and most recently 

refined in Prete, 193 W. Va. at 417, 456 S.E.2d at 498. The Circuit Court's factual findings under 

that standard-whether it can be fairly debated that the zoning classification is arbitrary or unrea­

sonable or bears a substantial relation to the public health, safety, morals, and general welfare­

are reviewed under a clearly erroneous standard. Pub. Citizen, 198 W. Va. at 328, 480 S.E.2d at 

538. And the Circuit Court's judgment as a whole is reviewed for abuse of discretion. Id.; see also 

Trovato, 166 W. Va. at 699, 276 S.E.2d at 834 (applying a clearly erroneous standard to a writ of 

mandamus directing a municipality to rezone property). 
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ARGUMENT 

A. Response to Assignment of Error No. 1: The Circuit Court applied the correct sub­
stantive due process standard and did not commit clear error when it made findings 
of fact under the only six LaSalle factors adopted by this Court in Par Mar. The Cir­
cuit Court thus did not abuse its discretion when it granted judgment for the Church. 

Although the City splits its first assignment of error into two subparts-the first discussing 

the fairly debatable standard, and the second discussing the so-called LaSalle factors-they are 

not separable. The trial court must consider the LaSalle factors ( of which this Court has adopted 

only six) to determine whether it is fairly debatable that a zoning classification violates substantive 

due process. See, e.g., Syl. Pt. 9, Carter, 132 W. Va. at 881, 54 S.E.2d at 747; Par Mar, 183 W. Va. 

at 710,398 S.E.2d at 536; Prete, 193 W. Va. at 419,456 S.E.2d at 500. Because the Circuit Court 

applied the correct substantive due process standard, and because its findings of facts are not 

clearly erroneous, the Amended Order should be affirmed. 

1. Under the substantive due process standard, the trial court weighs evidence under the six 
Par Mar factors to determine whether objective and reasonable persons would fairly de­
bate that the challenged zoning classification is arbitrmJ1 or unreasonable or fails to bear 
a substantial relation to the public health, safety, morals, or general welfare. 

A zoning classification satisfies substantive due process under the West Virginia and United 

States Constitutions if it is neither arbitrary nor unreasonable, and it bears a substantial relation to 

the public health, safety, morals, or general welfare. Village of Euclid v. Ambler Realty Co., 272 

U.S. 365,395 (1926); Syl. Pt. 7, Carter, 132 W. Va. at 881, 54 S.E.2d at 747. The fairly debatable 

standard was incorporated from the start in Carter. 132 W. Va. at 908, 54 S.E.2d at 761. This Court 

then elevated the fairly debatable standard to a Syllabus Point in Anderson v. City of Wheeling, 

where it held that, "if most of the factors necessary to the decision of a zoning case have both 

positive and negative aspects it would appear that these matters are fairly debatable, and in such 

case the court will not overrule the city authorities in the exercise of their legislative function." 

Syl. Pt. 4, 150 W. Va. 689, 149 S.E.2d 243 (1966). In Par Mar, this Court identified six factors 

(the "Par Mar factors") a trial court may consider as part of that analysis: 

(1) existing uses and zoning of nearby property; 

(2) the extent to which property values are diminished by the partic­
ular zoning restrictions; 

14 



(3) the extent to which the destruction of property values of the 
plaintiffs promotes the health, safety, morals or general welfare of 
the public; 

(4) the relative gain to the public, as compared to the hardship im­
posed upon the individual property owner; 

(5) the suitability of the subject property for the zoned purposes; and 

(6) the length of time the property has been vacant as zoned, consid­
ered in the context of land development in the area in the vicinity of 
the property. 

183 W. Va. at 710, 398 S.E.2d at 536. And in Prete, this Court explained that a matter is fairly 

debatable if, "when measured by both quantitative and qualitative tests, the evidence offered in 

support of the opposing views would lead objective and reasonable persons to reach different con­

clusions." 193 W. Va. at 419, 456 S.E.2d at 500. Proof is made under a clear and convincing stand­

ard. Par Mar, 183 W. Va. at 710,398 S.E.2d at 536. 

Applying these cases together, this Court's substantive due process standard in zoning 

cases is straightforward. A trial court must (1) receive evidence on the six Par Mar factors, (2) 

weigh the evidence under quantitative and qualitative tests, and (3) detem1ine whether objective 

and reasonable persons would reach different conclusions about whether the zoning classification 

is arbitrary or unreasonable and bears a substantial relation to the public health, safety, morals, and 

general welfare. See Carte,; 132 W. Va. at 881, 54 S.E.2d at 747; Par Mar, 183 W. Va. at 710,398 

S.E.2d at 536; Prete, 193 W. Va. at 419, 456 S.E.2d at 500. 

2. The Circuit Court applied the correct substantive due process standard in the Amended 
Order. 

In its Amended Order, the Circuit Court cited the seminal substantive due process decisions 

under West Virginia and Federal law: Carter and Village of Euclid. App. 3186-3187. The Circuit 

Court then identified the six Par Mar factors in its substantive due process analysis. App. 3187. 

The City nonetheless argues the Circuit Court erred by failing to apply the fairly debatable standard 

and failing to assess the LaSalle factors. See, e.g., Pet'r's Br. * 16. Not so. 

To start with the LaSalle factors, the nine factors advanced by the City come from two 

Supreme Court of Illinois cases that bind neither the Circuit Court nor this Court. The first six 
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factors come from La Salle Nat. Bank v. Cook Cty., 12 Ill. 2d 40, 46-47, 145 N.E.2d 65, 69 (1957). 

The remaining three factors come from Sinclair Pipe Line Co. v. Village of Richton Park, 19 Ill. 

2d 370,378, 167 N.E.2d 406,411 (1960). In its Par Mar decision, this Court adopted the first six 

LaSalle factors. 5 183 W. Va. at 710, 398 S.E.2d at 536. But this Court has never adopted the re­

maining three LaSalle factors from Sinclair Pipe Line, all of which expressly or impliedly concern 

comprehensive planning. 6 And there is no reason to do so here: the three comprehensive planning 

factors are already subsumed in the six Par Mar factors and lack the same relevance in West Vir­

ginia, which imposes a comprehensive planning requirement for zoning, as in Illinois, which does 

not. Compare 9 Ill. Real Prop. § 46:4 with Largent v. Zoning Bd. of Appeals, 222 W. Va. 789, 671 

S.E.2d 794 (2008). The Circuit Court therefore did not err in applying the six Par Mar factors 

adopted into West Virginia law rather than the nine factors advanced by the City under Illinois law. 

Returning to the fairly debatable standard, the City's premise appears to be that, since the 

Amended Order does not use the phrase, it was not applied. But to accept that argument, this Court 

would need to conclude that the Circuit Court cited Village of Euclid, Carter, and Par Mar while 

remaining ignorant of the fairly debatable standard incorporated in those decisions. App. 3186-

3187; Village of Euclid, 272 U.S. at 387; Carter, 132 W. Va. at 905, 54 S.E.2d at 761; Par Mar, 

183 W. Va. at 709, 398 S.E.2d at 535. This already-difficult conclusion is made impossible when 

this Court considers that the parties briefed the fairly debatable standard in the weeks before trial 

as part of the City's summary judgment motion. App. 1656-1660 & 2111-2113. Moreover, this 

Court has held that it "may affirm the judgment of the trial court where it is correct on any legal 

ground disclosed by the record, regardless of the ground, reason or theory assigned by the trial 

court for its judgment." Barnett v. Wolfolk, 149 W. Va. 246, 253-254, 140 S.E.2d 466, 471 (1965) 

5 In Par Mar, this Court cited to the Appellate Court of Illinois' decision in La Salle Nat. Bank v. Cook Cty., 60 Ill. 
App. 2d 39,208 N.E.2d 430 (1965). The Appellate Court's decision cited to the Supreme Court of Illinois' 1957 La 
Salle decision, and both discuss the same six factors. See id. at 51, 208 N .E.2d at 436. 
6 By stating that Par Mar "noted the utility of the factors" without also acknowledging that Par Mar adopted only six 
of the nine LaSalle factors it advances, the City is attempting to disguise its argument for an extension of the law. 
Pet'r's Br. *25-26. 
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(collecting cases). Because the Circuit Court relied on the seminal substantive due process deci­

sions under West Virginia and Federal law, this Court should presume that the Circuit Court cor­

rectly applied the fairly debatable standard and reject the City's technical argument to the contrary. 

3. The Circuit Court did not commit clear error when it made factual findings under the Par 
Mar factors. 

Most of the City's argument challenges the Circuit Court's factual findings in separate 

discussions of the fairly debatable standard and La Salle factors. Pet'r's Br. *21-33. But these are 

not distinct standards. The fairly debatable standard takes the evidence adduced under the six Par 

A1ar factors, evaluates it under quantitative and qualitative tests, and detem1ines whether it would 

lead objective and reasonable persons to reach different conclusions. Par Mar, 183 W. Va. at 710, 

398 S.E.2d at 536; Prete, 193 W. Va. at 419,456 S.E.2d at 500. This is a fact-finding exercise, and 

so the Circuit Court's evaluation of the Par Mar factors is reviewed for clear error and its ultimate 

judgment is reviewed for abuse of discretion. Pub. Citizen, 198 W. Va. at 328, 480 S.E.2d at 538. 

Par Mar Factor No. 1. The first Par Mar factor considers the existing uses and zoning of 

nearby property. 183 W. Va. at 710, 398 S.E.2d at 536. The evidence at trial showed that the Par­

tition was near several commercial or multi-family developments at the intersection of Burroughs 

Street and Collins Ferry Road; that the Partition abuts the Burroughs Place commercial develop­

ment on one side; that the Partition abuts the church and its parking lot on the other side; and that 

the Partition is diagonally adjacent to The Wine Bar commercial development. 7 App. 2394-2396 

& 3242-3243. The evidence also showed that the Suncrest district where the partition is located is 

a desirable residential neighborhood, and that the French Quarter subdivision is located to the north 

and the Vintner Reserve subdivision is located across Burroughs Street to the south. App. 2394, 

3285 & 3297. But the Circuit Court heard testimony that the Partition's prospects for residential 

development are limited by factors not affecting other properties in Suncrest; that only six devel­

opments have been built along Burroughs Street in the last five years; that five of those develop-

7 The City's statement that the property is bordered on three sides by residential uses is misleading. Pet'r's Br. *26. 
This statement is true for the Remainder, but not for the Partition. 
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ments lack direct access to Burroughs Street; and that the one recent development with direct ac­

cess onto Burroughs Street has been built 100-200 feet back from the road. App. 3238 & 3388-

3392. The evidence also showed that the City had thrice rezoned properties adjacent (or diagonally 

adjacent) to the Partition, in one case finding it was unlikely the property would ever be used for 

single-family residential purposes. App. 2395-2396 & 2414-2415. The Circuit Court therefore did

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